
 
 

DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION  
GOVERNMENT CENTER BOARDROOM, 4TH FLOOR, ROOM #400  

115 E. WASHINGTON STREET, BLOOMINGTON, IL 61701 
MONDAY, MAY 22, 2023, 5:00 PM 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Identification of Committee Members 
 

A. Identification of Required Decennial Committee Members, as requested by the 
Committee Chair and Township Supervisor.  (Recommended Motion: None.) 

 

B. Consideration and Action to Identify and Approve the Appointment of Residents 
to Serve on the Committee, as requested by the Committee Chair and Township 
Supervisor. (Recommended Motion: The appointment of residents be 
approved.) 

 
3. Consent Agenda 

This being the first meeting, there are no Consent Agenda items on which to vote. 
 
4. Regular Session 
 

A. Overview of Decennial Committee, as requested by the Committee Chair 

and Township Supervisor. (Recommended Motion: None.) 
 

B. Review of Meeting Schedule, as requested by the Committee Chair 

and Township Supervisor. (Recommended Motion: None.) 
 

C. General Discussion and Identification of Next Steps, as requested by the 

Committee Chair and Township Supervisor. (Recommended Motion: None.) 
 
5. Public Comment  

Individuals wishing to provide emailed public comment must email comments to 
townshipoffice@cityblm.org by 3:30 p.m. the day of the meeting. Individuals 
wishing to speak in-person may register in person at least 5 minutes before the 
start of the meeting. 

 
6. Adjournment 
 

Individuals with disabilities planning to attend the meeting who require reasonable 
accommodations to observe and/or participate, or who have questions about the 
accessibility of the meeting, should contact the City’s ADA Coordinator at 309-434-2468 
or mhurt@cityblm.org. 



 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM NO. 2.A. 
 
FOR DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION: May 22, 2023 
 
WARD IMPACTED: Town of the City of Bloomington 
 
SUBJECT: Identification of Required Decennial Committee Members, as requested by the 

Committee Chair and Township Supervisor. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: None. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN LINK: 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN SIGNIFICANCE: 
 
BACKGROUND: Pursuant to section 50 ILC 70/10(b), the Decennial Committee 
membership shall include all elected or appointed officials of the governing board. For 
the Town of the City of Bloomington, this includes the Township Supervisor, the 
Township Assessor, all members of the Township Board, and all members of the 
Evergreen Cemetery Board, as named below: 
 

Mboka Mwilambwe, Trustee and Committee Chair  
Deborah Skillrud, Township Supervisor  
Steve Scudder, Township Assessor  
Jenna Kearns, Trustee  
Donna Boelen, Trustee  
Sheila Montney, Trustee  
John Danenberger, Trustee  
Nick Becker, Trustee  
Cody Hendricks, Trustee  
Mollie Ward, Trustee  
Kent Lee, Trustee  
Tom Crumpler, Trustee  
Joe Gibson, Evergreen Cemetery Board  
Garrett Thalgott, Evergreen Cemetery Board  
Brad Williams, Evergreen Cemetery Board  
Leslie Yocum, Township Clerk  

 
COMMUNITY GROUPS/INTERESTED PERSONS CONTACTED: The Trustees of the Town of 

the City of Bloomington, the Board of Trustees of Evergreen Memorial Cemetery, the 

Township Supervisor and Assessor, and the Township Clerk and Deputy Clerk. 



 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: Committee members shall serve without compensation but may be 

reimbursed for expenses incurred in performing their duties. 
 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
Prepared by: Debbie Stilwell 



 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM NO. 2.B. 
 
FOR DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION: May 22, 2023 
 
WARD IMPACTED: Town of the City of Bloomington 
 
SUBJECT: Consideration and Action to Identify and Approve the Appointment of 
Residents to Serve on the Committee, as requested by the Committee Chair and 
Township Supervisor. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: The appointment of residents be approved. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN LINK: 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN SIGNIFICANCE: 
 
BACKGROUND: Pursuant to section 50 ILCS 70/10(b) of the Decennial Committees on 
Local Government Efficiency Act, each committee's membership shall include at least 
two residents within the territory served by the governmental unit, who are appointed by 
the chair with the advice and consent of the governing board. The following Town of the 
City of Bloomington residents have been recommended by Committee Chair Mayor Mboka 

Mwilambwe and Township Supervisor Deborah Skillrud: 
 

William Bennett  
Amelia Buragus  
David Stanczak  
Other resident(s) as identified at the meeting  

 
COMMUNITY GROUPS/INTERESTED PERSONS CONTACTED: William Bennett, Amelia 

Buragus, David Stanczak, and other Town of the City of Bloomington residents. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: Committee members shall serve without compensation but may be 

reimbursed for expenses incurred in performing their duties. 
 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
Prepared by: Debbie Stilwell 



 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM NO. 4.A. 
 
FOR DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION: May 22, 2023 
 
WARD IMPACTED: Town of the City of Bloomington 
 
SUBJECT: Overview of Decennial Committee, as requested by the Committee Chair and 
Township Supervisor. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: None. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN LINK: 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN SIGNIFICANCE: 
 
BACKGROUND: On June 10, 2022, Governor Pritzker signed the Decennial Committee on 
Local Government Efficiency Act, 50 ILCS 70/1 et seq., into law. This law requires all 

entities in Illinois that levy taxes and are units of local government, except municipalities 
and counties, to convene a committee to study and report on local government 

efficiency. 
 
As this applies to the Town of the City of Bloomington, we must: 
 

Form a committee to study local efficiencies and meet for the first time no later 
than June 10, 2023  
Have the committee meet at least three times  
Prepare a written report with recommendations (if any) on:  

Increased accountability  
Efficiencies  

File the report with the county board no later than 18 months after formation of 

the committee, or by November 25, 2024.  
 
A copy of the Illinois Compiled Statute, the Township Officials of Illinois (TOI) 
Recommended Procedures, and the TOI Sample Decennial Report have been provided to 
help further explain and outline the role and responsibility of the Committee. 
 
COMMUNITY GROUPS/INTERESTED PERSONS CONTACTED: N/A 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: This is an unfunded mandate. 
 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
Prepared by: Debbie Stilwell 









THE TOWNSHIP OFFICIALS OF ILLINOIS RECOMMENDED PROCEDURES FOR 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE DECENNIAL COMMITTEES ON LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT EFFICIENCY ACT 

By Jerry Crabtree, Executive Director of TOI  
and Keri-Lyn J. Krafthefer, Ancel Glink, P.C.  

   

On June 10, 2022, Governor Pritzker signed the Decennial Committee on Local Government 
Efficiency Act, 50 ILCS 70/1 et seq.,  into law.  This law requires Illinois townships, road districts 
and township multi-assessment districts to convene a committee to study and report on local 
government efficiency.   There are certain actions your entity must take to begin compliance with 
this law by no later than June 10, 2023. 

WHO DOES THIS APPLY TO? This new law applies to all township-related governing bodies 
(Townships, Road Districts, and Multi Township Assessment Districts).  It also applies to all other 
units of local government that levy taxes but excludes municipalities and counties.  

WHAT DO WE HAVE TO DO?  Under this law, you must: 

1. Form a committee to study local efficiencies and meet for the first time no later than June 
10, 2023; 

2. Have the committee meet at least three times; 
3. Prepare a written report with recommendations (if any) on 

a. Efficiencies. 
b. Increased accountability; and  

4. File the report with the county board. 

WHO HAS TO BE ON THE COMMITTEE?  Section 10(b) of the Act specifies that the 
committee’s membership shall include the elected or appointed members of the governing board 
(for townships, that means the Supervisor and Trustees).  In addition, it must include any chief 
executive officer of the Township (such as a Township administrator or manager), or “other 
township officers.”  The committee includes at least two township residents appointed by the 
Supervisor.  The supervisor may also appoint others to serve on the committee if desired.  
Meetings are to be chaired by the Township Supervisor or his/her designee.  Committee 
members are not compensated but can be reimbursed for any committee-related expenses.  

WHAT DOES THE COMMITTEE HAVE TO DO?   The Committee is required to meet at 
least three (3) times, with the first meeting occurring no later than June 10, 2023.  The Committee 
meeting can be the same day as your township board meeting.  It can even be a part of your regular 
township board meeting, provided you list the committee meeting as a part of your agenda and 
have a majority of the committee members present.  All other requirements of the Open Meetings 
Act (notice, minutes, etc.) also apply to these committee meetings.  

 

 



WHAT NEEDS TO HAPPEN AT THESE COMMITTEE MEETINGS?   

The committee must “summarize its work and findings within a written report, which shall include 
recommendations in respect to increased accountability and efficiency and shall provide the report 
to the county board in which the governmental unit is located no later than 18 months after the 
formation of the committee.” 50 ILCS 70/25. The goal is for the Committee to study and report on 
local government efficiencies.  Ultimately, this can be as simple or complex as you make it.  We 
recommend the following:  

 First meeting:  This meeting would essentially be an “organizational” meeting. Identify 
committee members, set deadlines for next steps, designate different committee members to 
compile information and identify efficiencies your government currently has in place, and whether 
there are increased opportunities for efficiency and whether there are additional opportunities for 
accountability.  This would include identifying any intergovernmental agreements you currently 
have in place, or whether there are additional opportunities for intergovernmental cooperation 
(sharing equipment, personnel, resources, etc.)  Your committee can also discuss at this meeting 
whether the committee members want to gather and analyze information, or whether you want to 
employ specialists in public administration and governmental management or other consultants.  
Keep in mind, however, that this law is an unfunded mandate, so payment for anyone you hire will 
have to come from  your existing funds.  See the sample form report we have included so you can 
get a sense of the information you should be gathering.  

 Second meeting:  We recommend that you use this meeting to take the information you 
have gathered and compile it into the report.  You can identify any additional information you may 
need to prepare a final report.  

 Third meeting:  We recommend that you finalize and approve the report at your third 
meeting.  

 Remember, there is a minimum of three meetings required.  You can have as many 
meetings as you need or want, provided you have at least three.  You can have these meetings 
throughout the year leading up to the report deadline, which is 18 months after your original 
committee meeting.   

 Additional Requirements:  At the end of each meeting, the committee must “conduct a 
survey of residents who attended asking for input on the matters discussed at the meeting.” The 
easiest way to comply with this would be to simply poll the people present at the meeting while at 
the meeting, but the law also provides that the Committee can survey people by emailing them. 
(House Bill 4228 – modifying 50 ILCS 70/20).  

WHAT DO WE DO WITH THE REPORT ONCE WE HAVE PREPARED IT?  

Section 25 of the Act requires the Committee to provide its report to the county board.   

 ROAD DISTRICTS 

House Bill 4228, which was passed by the Illinois General Assembly on January 5, 2023 became 
Public Act 102-1136 on February 10, 2023.  The new law provides that a highway commissioner 



of a township road district within a county with a population under 400,000 may form a joint 
committee with the Township for purposes of the Act, instead of convening separate committee 
meetings and preparing a separate report.   

Joint Committee shall include: 

 The Township Trustees 

 The Highway Commissioner 

 Two (2) residents served by the township /road district appointed by the township 
supervisor with the consent of the board. 

 One (1) resident appointed by the highway commissioner. 

 Township Supervisor who serves as chair of the committee 

The joint report consists of two(2) sections 

A.  Township Report 
B. Road District Report 

 

SAMPLE REPORT for a Single Township 

We have created a sample report that you may use as a guide or the form itself.  Your township is 
not required to use this form.  Our hope is not that all townships have a “cookie cutter report,” but 
that you seriously consider each of the topics specified.  We have also included a checklist of 
policies that townships are required to have, just to flag them for you in case you do not have them.  
In order to make sure that you properly comply with your government’s obligations under this new 
law, we suggest that you have your legal counsel review this form to determine whether it is 
suitable for your township committee’s purposes.  TOI will make this form available on its website 
in a modifiable version.  



 

1 
 

SAMPLE TOWNSHIP REPORT FOR COMPLIANCE WITH DECENNIAL 
COMMITTEES ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT EFFICIENCY ACT 

(For Townships Only) 
 

I. Unit of government submitting this report:  
 

NAME OF TOWNSHIP:  ______________________________________ 
 
Note:  Any local government that levies a tax, other than a municipality or county must file this 
report. See 50 ILCS 70/10(b-5). For Road Districts in counties with populations of less than 
400,000 the highway commissioner may form a joint committee to prepare one combined report.   
 
TOI has a separate recommended report form for a consolidated report, so do not use this form for 
a combined report of a township and road district. TOI also has a separate recommended report 
form for road districts and multi-township assessment districts.   
 

II. Information about our Township 
 

A. We are located in ______________________County.  There are _____ townships 
 in our county.  

B. The population of our Township is ____________________________, as of the 
 2020 census.  

C. We have _________ employees of the Township (not including elected officials).  
D. We have _________ employees in our Road District (not including elected 

 officials).  
E. Our annual budget for 2023 is:  $_____________________.  
F. Our Township’s equalized assessed valuation for 2023 is  

 $__________________________.  
 

III. Information about Our Committee 
 

 A. Committee Members:  
 
  Township Supervisor  ______________________________________ 
 
  Township Trustee   ______________________________________ 
  
   Township Trustee   ______________________________________ 
 
  Township Trustee   ______________________________________ 
 
  Township Trustee   ______________________________________ 
 
  Township Resident     ______________________________________ 
 
  Township Resident ______________________________________ 



 

2 
 

 
Note:  Per 50 ILCS 70/10(b), the committee membership must include all the elected or appointed 
members of the township board (Supervisor and Trustees) and two residents appointed by the 
Supervisor.  The residents can be the Assessor, Highway Commissioner, Clerk or Collector, if you 
have one, or other residents of the Township, but these officials are not required to be on this 
Committee.  The Supervisor may appoint more than two residents if deemed appropriate.  
 
 B. Dates that our Committee Met (50 ILCS 70/20) 
 
  First (Organizational) Meeting  
  (must occur prior to June 10, 2023):  _______________________, 2023 
 
  Second Meeting:    _______________________,2023 
 
  Third Meeting:    _______________________,2023 
 
  Additional Meetings (List All):  _______________________,2024 

 
IV. Programs Offered by our Township. 

 
A. Our Township offers the following services and programs: (List programs like 

 general assistance, youth programs, senior programs, community programs, 
 LIHEAP, etc.)  (If not applicable, remove this).  

 
 
B. Other services/programs we could possibly provide:  

 
 
 

V. Social Service Agreements  
 

A. We partner with the following not for profits to offer social services (list all):  
 

 Entity:      Services Provided: 
 
 1. 
 2. 
 3. 
 4. 
 5. 
 

B. Our residents have benefitted from these agreements in the following ways:  
 
C. We have considered possibly offering the following social services or the 
following additional potential partnerships:  

 



 

3 
 

VI. Awards and Recognitions 
 

 Our Township has received the following awards, distinctions, and recognitions: (List all). 
 
 

VII. Intergovernmental Agreements  
 

A. We partner with, or have Intergovernmental Agreements, with the following other 
Governments (List all):  

 
 Entity:      Services Provided: 
 
 1. 
 2. 
 3. 
 4. 
 5. 
      

B. Our Township’s efficiency has increased through intergovernmental cooperation in 
the following way (list cost savings, avoiding duplicated services, etc.):  

 
VIII. Review of Laws, Township Policies, Township Rules and Procedures, Township 

Training Materials, and other Documents 
 

We have reviewed the following, non-exhaustive list of laws, policies, training 
materials, and other documents applicable to the Township to evaluate our 
compliance and to determine if any of the foregoing should be amended.  

 
______State laws applicable to Townships, including, but not limited to the Township 
 Code (60 ILCS) 

 
 ______Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120) 
 

______Policy on public comment  
 
______Designation of OMA officer (5 ILCS 120/1.05(a)) 

 
______All of Elected Officials have completed OMA Training (5 ILCS 120/1.05(b)) 
 
______Schedule of All Township Regular Meetings for Calendar or Fiscal Year (5  
 ILCS 120/2.03) 

 
 ______Illinois Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 140) 
 

______Designation of FOIA officer (5 ILCS 140/3.5(a)) 
 



 

4 
 

______FOIA Officer Training (5 ILCS 140/3.5(b)) 
 
______Computation and Retention of FOIA Requests (5 ILCS 140/3.5(a)) 

 
______Posting Other Required FOIA Information (5 ILCS 140/4(a); 5 ILCS 140/4(b)) 

 
______List of Types or Categories of FOIA Records under Township’s Control (5 ILCS 
 140/5) 
 
______Periodic Meetings to Review Closed Meeting Minutes (5 ILCS 120/2.06(d)) 

 
______IMRF Total Compensation Postings (5 ILCS 120/7.3) 

 
 ______Designation of Whistleblower Auditing Official (50 ILCS 105/4.1) 
 
 ______All of our Elected Officials have filed statement of economic interests (5 ILCS  
  420/4A-101; 5 ILCS 420/4A-101.5) 
 
 ______Sexual harassment prevention training (775 ILCS 5/2-109(c)) 
 

______Our Intergovernmental Agreements 
 
______Our Social Service Agreements or Contracts 
 
______Our budget and financial documents  
  
______State Ethics Laws, including, but not limited to the State Officials and Employees 
 Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430/1-1) 
 
______Our budget and financial documents 
 
______Reports on government efficiency, including “Local Government    
 Efficiency and Size in Illinois:  Counting Tax Revenues, Not    
 Governments” by Wendell Cox (2016); “Local Democracy and Townships  
 in the Chicagoland Area,” by Wendell Cox, (January 2012).  
   
______Others (List Below or Attach):  

 
 

IX. What Have We Done Well?  (List any budget/levy freezes or reductions in the past 
decade; list new programs or services offered to residents over the past decade; list 
any ethics ordinances adopted; timely FOIA compliance; responsiveness to public; 
list any new intergovernmental agreements or social services offered; list any increase 
in number of township residents served, etc.)  

 
X. What Inefficiencies Did We Identify/What Are our Next Steps?   



 

5 
 

 
 

XI. What Can We Do Better or More Efficiently?  
 
 

XII. Studies on Governmental Efficiencies  
 

In preparing this report, we reviewed several studies on local government efficiency.  
These studies show that:  
 

 The average local government in Illinois serves 1800 residents compared to 
the national median of 2850 individuals. 

 Most townships in Illinois have no bonded indebtedness.  Together with road 
districts  they are an integral element of local democracy.  Township 
expenditures have grown at a  lower rate than those of any other level of 
government since 1992. 

 Townships have lower labor costs and employ mostly part time employees.  
 

XIII. Our committee’s recommendations regarding Increased Accountability and 
Efficiency:  

 
 
 
 
 
Note:  This Report must be filed with your County no later than 18 months after your first 
committee meeting.  
 
Submitted by: ________________________________________________ 
  Chairman, Decennial Efficiency Committee of _________________ Township  
Date: _________________________ 
 
 
 
 



 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM NO. 4.B. 
 

FOR DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION: May 22, 2023 
 
WARD IMPACTED: Town of the City of Bloomington 
 
SUBJECT: Review of Meeting Schedule, as requested by the Committee Chair and 
Township Supervisor. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: None. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN LINK: 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN SIGNIFICANCE: 
 
BACKGROUND: Pursuant to 50 ILCS 70/20 of the Decennial Committee on Local 
Government Committee Efficiency Act, the law requires the first meeting to occur no 
later than June 10, 2023 and must meet at least three times. As set forth by Committee 
Chair Mboka Mwilambwe and Township Supervisor Deborah Skillrud, the committee will 
meet every three months on the fourth Monday at 5:00 p.m., just prior to the regularly 
scheduled Township meeting, beginning May 22, 2023, and concluding after 18 months. 
The schedule is as follows: 
 

Monday May 22, 2023  
Monday August 28, 2023  
Monday November 27, 2023  

• Monday February 26 2024 
Monday May 27, 2024  
Monday August 26, 2024  
Monday November 25, 2024  

 
The meeting schedule is subject to change at the discretion of the committee. 
 
COMMUNITY GROUPS/INTERESTED PERSONS CONTACTED: N/A 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: N/A 
 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
Prepared by: Debbie Stilwell 



 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM NO. 4.C. 
 

FOR DECENNIAL COMMITTEE - REGULAR SESSION: May 22, 2023 
 
WARD IMPACTED: Town of the City of Bloomington 
 
SUBJECT: General Discussion and Identification of Next Steps, as requested by the 

Committee Chair and Township Supervisor. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: None. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN LINK: 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN SIGNIFICANCE: 
 
BACKGROUND: The goal of the Decennial Committee is to study and report on local 

government efficiencies. Ultimately, this can be as simple or as complex as the 

Committee wishes to make it. Some items for consideration and discussion include: 
 

How involved do the Committee members wish to be in gathering and analyzing 
information? Supervisor Skillrud is volunteering Township staff to gather and 
compile as much of the data as possible.  
What other information would the Committee like to gather that is not necessarily 
identified in the TOI Sample report?  
Would the Committee like to employ an outside agency or other consultants that 

specialize in public administration and governmental management? Keep in mind 
this is an unfunded mandate so payment would have to come from the existing 
General Town Fund.  

 
Next steps include, but are not limited to, identifying other items to be addressed, 
establishing deadlines, and setting the agenda for the next meeting. 
 
COMMUNITY GROUPS/INTERESTED PERSONS CONTACTED: N/A 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: N/A 
 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
Prepared by: Debbie Stilwell 


	1 20230522 DC Agenda
	2A Cover Memo 2
	2B Cover Memo
	4A Cover Memo
	4A1 50 ILCS 70.1 Decennial Committee Compiled Statute
	4A2 TOI Recommended Procedures
	4A3 TOI Sample Decennial Report
	4B Cover Memo
	4C Cover Memo

